
Rochester City Council 
 Community Development Committee 

 

MEETING MINUTES 

Elaine Lauterborn, Chairperson 

Donna Bogan, Vice Chairperson 

Tom Abbott 

Ray Barnett 

A. Raymond Varney, Jr.  

Meeting Date: Monday, April 11, 2016 

Members Present: Councilor Abbott 
Councilor Barnett 
Councilor Bogan 
Councilor Lauterborn  
Deputy Mayor Varney 

Members Absent:  
None 

Guests/Staff: Julian Long, Community Development Coordinator 
Jenn Marsh, Economic Development Specialist 
Susan DeRoy, Rochester Economic Development Commission 
Casey Hancock, University of New Hampshire Cooperative Extension 
Kate Kirkwood, Lead Abatement Consultant 
Gloria Paradise, New Hampshire Housing Finance Authority 
Steve Fleming, Elm Grove Realty 

 

Councilor Lauterborn called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. Motion was made by 
Councilor Bogan and seconded by Councilor Barnett to approve the March 14, 2016 
minutes. The minutes were approved unanimously.    
 

Public Input There was no public input. 

Other Business The agenda was rearranged to allow Ms. Marsh, Ms. DeRoy, and Ms. 
Hancock to present on the First Impressions program. Ms. Marsh stated 
that the University of New Hampshire approached City of Rochester 
officials about participating in the new First Impressions program. Ms. 
Hancock described the program, stating that two cities are paired, and the 
cities visit and evaluate one another’s downtown areas. The City of 
Rochester, if it chooses to participate, would be paired with the Town of 
Littleton. 
 
Ms. Marsh stated that there would be no cost for the program except 
minimal expenses related to travel and meals for the team visiting 
Littleton. 
 
Councilor Lauterborn asked about the structure of the program. Ms. 
Hancock stated that the University of New Hampshire would provide 
background on the municipalities’ assets. Deputy Mayor Varney asked 
how big the committees representing the two municipalities would be. Ms. 
Hancock stated each committee would be comprised of six to ten people. 
Ms. DeRoy added that the committee would include members of the 
Rochester Economic Development Commission as well as other, diverse 
sectors. 



 
Ms. Marsh added that the mayor approves of the proposed program. 
 
Motion was made by Deputy Mayor Varney and seconded by 
Councilor Bogan to recommend that the full City Council approve 
the City of Rochester’s participation in the program. The motion 
passed unanimously. 

Lead Paint 
Abatement Grants 

Ms. Kirkwood provided an overview of the issues with lead-based paint, 
including the prevalence of lead, health effects on young children due to 
neurotoxicity, increased numbers of children in special education classes 
due to lead poisoning, and low levels of lead poisoning screening in the 
City of Rochester. Ms. Kirkwood also mentioned that a law passed in 
2015 in the New Hampshire state legislature, SB 135, lowers the level of 
lead present in the blood that qualifies as “poisoned” and requires 
increased rates of lead poisoning screening. 
 
Deputy Mayor Varney noted that not all special education students are 
lead poisoning. Ms. Kirkwood agreed but mentioned it is hard to 
determine the percentage due to low levels of screening. Ms. Paradise 
stated that many lead-based paints used years ago, before they were 
banned, are just now starting to break down, resulting in contamination 
and poisoning. 
 
Ms. Kirkwood provided an outline for addressing lead poisoning that 
includes improved blood screening, improved testing for lead in housing, 
increased use of lead-safe work practices in renovation projects, and 
increased awareness of lead and its risks. 
 
Councilor Lauterborn asked who performs the blood screening tests. Ms. 
Paradise replied that doctors and WIC clinics perform the tests on children 
aged one and two, although ages one to six are the ages of concern. 
 
Councilor Bogan asked about links between income level and the 
chances of lead poisoning. Ms. Kirkwood stated that the big link is anyone 
who is remodeling an older home, which includes all income levels. Ms. 
Kirkwood also mentioned that, in a case of poisoning, the state can only 
put rental properties “under order” to be remediated. Owner-occupied 
homes are exempt. 
 
Deputy Mayor Varney asked about who is responsible for paying for 
abatement. Ms. Kirkwood replied that the property owner is responsible. 
Ms. Paradise added that, in such cases, property owners receive 
information on the available grant program and that thirty-six Rochester 
properties have been abated with assistance through the state lead 
abatement grant. 
 
Councilor Lauterborn asked if the grant money is paid directly to the 
property owner. Ms. Paradise replied that the grant money is paid directly 
to the contractors who perform the lead abatement work. She added that 
there is a required 90/10 minimum funding match required of property 
owners. 
 



Councilor Abbott asked about the cost of lead inspection. Ms. Kirkwood 
replied that it costs about $200 for the most basic level of inspection but 
can cost $1,000 for a more in-depth inspection. She added that it would 
cost about $300 for a single-family home. 
 
Deputy Mayor Varney asked about the administrative overhead 
associated with the grant and length of the grant. Ms. Kirkwood explained 
that she would budget for a three-person team but not all three people 
would need to be full-time workers. She added that the City could use the 
administrative money to partly cover the salary costs of a code 
enforcement officer, and she suggested that $50,000 to $60,000 would be 
an appropriate salary for a grant program manager. Ms. Paradise stated 
that the grants are for a three-year period. 
 
Mr. Fleming stated that Elm Grove Realty has used the lead abatement 
grant funds to clean up properties purchased under order. He stated that 
the grants ultimately result in nicer properties and nicer neighborhoods. 
 
Councilor Lauterborn asked whether lead inspectors can determine 
whether a case of poisoning is the result of paint or water. Ms. Kirkwood 
replied that the lead inspection and investigation will be able to determine 
the ultimate source of the lead. Deputy Mayor Varney asked about who 
performs the inspections. Ms. Kirkwood replied that it is the City’s choice, 
as long as the individual is properly certified. 
 
Ms. Kirkwood stated that, unlike last year, she is not available to write the 
entire grant application if the City is interested in applying for a grant. She 
added that she is available to assist in the preparation of a grant 
application, however. She also stated that the program manager of the 
grant must spend a minimum of 75% of his or her time working on the 
grant. 
 
Deputy Mayor Varney expressed concerns about the administrative costs 
of the grant program and suggested that, if an application is submitted, 
the program manager be a contractor rather than hired as a City 
employee. Councilor Abbott expressed support for hiring a contractor. 
 
Motion was made by Councilor Bogan and seconded by Councilor Abbott 
to recommend that the full City Council vote to approve submission of a 
lead abatement grant application to the U.S. Department of Housing and 
Urban Development, on the condition that no new City staff be hired to 
administer the program. The motion passed unanimously. 

CDBG Projects 
Program Report 

Mr. Long gave brief updates on the CDBG program, including the status 
of the Rochester Public Library accessible main doors project and the 
rescheduled landlord/tenant law conference hosted by the New 
Hampshire Legal Assistance’s Housing Justice Project. Mr. Long also 
provided updates on the Job Opportunity Benefit (JOB) Loan program, 
funded through CDBG. The City of Rochester entered into two new loans, 
to Rochester Eye Care and Seacoast Gymnastics, since the last quarterly 
JOB Loan program report was provided to the Committee. 
 
Mr. Long also presented a sample Programmatic Agreement, between the 



state historic preservation office and the City of Portsmouth, to the 
Committee. He explained that Programmatic Agreements allow the 
municipality to forgo state consultation for certain categories of activities, 
which results in faster environmental reviews for CDBG-funded programs. 
He suggested that the City of Rochester enter into a Programmatic 
Agreement with the state, as well. 
 
Councilor Lauterborn asked Mr. Long to add the Programmatic 
Agreement topic to the May Committee agenda, to allow the Committee 
time to review the sample Programmatic Agreement. Mr. Long stated he 
would do so. 

 
Motion to adjourn was made by Councilor Bogan and seconded by Councilor Abbott. 
The vote to adjourn was unanimous. The meeting was adjourned at 8:35 p.m. 
 
Next Meeting – Monday, May 9, 2016 at 7:00 p.m. in the City Council Conference Room 
at City Hall 
Topics – CDBG Projects Program Report, State Historic Preservation Office 
Programmatic Agreement 
















